IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DONALD ROBERT KRITZMAN,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

CASE NO. 69,058

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR SANTA ROSA COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MICHAEL E. ALLEN PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

ANN COCHEU ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER POST OFFICE BOX 671 TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32302 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATE OF FLORIDA,	:		
Appellee.	:		

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

I PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant, Donald Robert Kritzman, was the defendant in the trial court and will be addressed as appellant or by his proper name. Appellee was the prosecuting authority for the First Judicial Circuit in and for Santa Rosa County and will be addressed as the State.

The record on appeal consists of 14 consecutively numbered volumes of pleadings and transcripts. Reference will be by "R" and the appropriate page numbers in parentheses.

All matters were before Circuit Judge George E. Lowrey.

II STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

A Santa Rosa County Grand Jury returned a two count indictment against appellant, Johnny David Davis, and Timothy Patrick Griffin AKA Kent Alphonse Mailhes. Count one alleged on September 8, 1985, the three committed premeditated murder with a firearm on Mark McKeen and felony murder in the alternative, contrary to section 782.04, Florida Statutes (1985). Count two alleged robbery with a firearm on Mr. McKeen, contrary to

- 1 -

section 812.13, Florida Statutes (1985) (R-1).

Appellant, through counsel, filed numerous pretrial motions generally attacking the death penalty and the vior dire proceedings, (R-5-48), motions to suppress certain tangible evidence on relevancy grounds (R-53-65, 68-74), and motions to sever his trial from Davis (R-4) and Mailhes (R-49-50). These motions, except for limited individual voir dire, were denied (R-773, 775-78, 860, 883, 887).

On February 7, 1986, the State filed a Williams Rule Notice, intending to offer evidence that the defendants escaped from a Louisiana prison on September 7, 1985, that they robbed an elderly man the same day, and that they planned to rob a motel and a laundromat (R-75).

On February 21, 1986, the Friday prior to the Monday trial, Mailhes entered guilty pleas to first degree murder and armed robbery (R-982). After the plea colloquy Judge Lowery was satisfied that Mailhes understood his constitutional rights and freely, voluntarily, and intelligently waived those rights (R-986-87, 999). The Judge ordered his case be submitted to a jury, along with co-defendants' Davis and Kritzman, for a recommendation on punishment (R-989).

On February 24, 1986, jury selection began with all three defendants engaging in voir dire (R-1014).

Appellant moved to sever his trial from that of co-defendant Johnny Davis (R-4). The judge denied the motion (R-773). Prior to opening statements, Davis announced he would be testifying (R-1688-89). Appellant then objected to the State's use of collateral crime testimony about the escape from Louisiana, the

- 2 -

robbery of an elderly man, and subsequent plans to rob a motel and a laundromat (R-1691-2). Davis did not join in the motion (R-1692) but intended to cross-examine Mailhes about these prior matters (R-1694) and would mention this in his opening statement (R-1698). Appellant objected (R-1698). The Court ruled the collateral evidence was admissible (R-1694).

Again appellant requested a severance from Davis on the ground of surprise (R-1725). The judge then implied appellant sought to depose Davis, ruled he had no right to do so (R-1726-1728), and denied the motion for severance (R-1729). During his opening statement, Davis' attorney argued appellant was the triggerman (R-1748-49).

Subsequently appellant renewed his objection to the admission of the deposition of Hubert Jones, the elderly man robbed in Louisiana (R-1722), the State's opening remarks about the collateral acts (R-1737, 1739) and the testimony of the Louisiana prison warden (R-1767). The trial judge took appellant's motion for mistrial under advisement (R-1784), but after Jones' testimony gave the jury a cautionary instruction (R-1785, 1788).

Through a deposition read to the jury, Hubert Jones, age 85, testified he was at his home in Angie, Louisiana on September 7, 1985, when four men came to his house. One man asked to use the phone and pulled it from the wall. Everything went blank (probably from someone hitting him), and he found himself tied up. The men took a .22 caliber pistol, some clothes, \$350 cash, and a 1978 red Ford LTD. When shown the pistol and a photograph of the car he identified them. Although he never described appellant's role in this, Mr. Jones did recognize him as being

- 3 -

one of the four men (R-386-398).

Esther McKeen, the victim's mother, was the first witness called by the State. On September 8 her son left the house about 8:15 p.m. She described his attire and identified various state exhibits as her son's watch, a shark's tooth necklace, a billfold, and shoes he had been wearing (R-1760-1764).

Over objection (R-1766) Washington Correctional Institution, Louisiana, warden J. F. Donnelly was permitted to testify that Davis, Kritzman, Mailhes and a Guidry escaped from his prison on September 7, 1985. He identified Davis and Kritzman as the defendants on trial (R-1766-70).

Next Clifford Taylor testified he and some friends were driving down a road to a park and fishing area when a red Ford LTD drove by them. In the nearby woods he spotted a boy's body on the ground. Mr. Taylor shook him, rolled him over, and then saw blood. Detecting a pulse, Mr. Taylor dragged the body to a flatter surface and began administering CPR and mouth-to-mouth resuscitation. His friend, Barry Weaver went for help (R-1790-98). Mr. Weaver added he went to a pay phone at a Piggly Wiggly to await the ambulance to take it to the body (R-1811-13).

Paramedic Robert Bullard testified he received an emergency call at 9:11 p.m. and located a civilian at the Piggly Wiggly. Upon arriving at the park, he located the young white male. An EKG revealed no heartbeat, and there was no respiration. In his opinion the man was dead (R-1819-1822).

Gulf Breeze police officer Tim Johnson put out a BOLO for the automobile described by Mr. Taylor and Mr. Weaver (R-1826).

Bill Robinson was the next witness. Around midnight on

- 4 -

September 8, a neighbor phoned him about an automobile parked outside a rental house he owned. Mr. Robinson drove over to the property and took down the vehicle's tag. On the front passenger's side he spotted a person with shoulder length hair. Then he drove home to telephone the sheriff's department with the automobile's description. Upon returning to his rental property, he spotted the car driving northbound on the highway. When the deputies arrived, Mr. Robinson pointed out the vehicle (R-1832-35).

Santa Rose County Sheriff's Deputies Malcolm Saunders and Roy Cotton were the two officers who apprehended the suspicious vehicle. While on route to the scene Deputy Saunders learned from dispatch that the car was stolen from Louisiana.

Davis was the driver, Kritzman was in the front, and Mailhes was lying in the backseat. Deputy Saunders discovered a revolver in the front passenger side floorboard (R-1837-1860).

After being given his Miranda warnings, appellant denied being in Louisiana (R-1862).

On cross-examination Deputy Saunders admitted there was a cooler and a number of beer cans (R-1863-64).

Deputy Cotton testified the three men gave false names.

Appellant said he had been in Detriot two days before with a man named Jimmy (R-1864-1870).

Crime Scene investigator Chuck Sloan of the Santa Rosa Sheriff's Department collected the three suspects clothing, the revolver, and a wallet (R-1877-82).

When a co-defendant Mailhes began his testimony concerning the events prior to the men's arrival in Florida, appellant

- 5 -

objected (R-1889, 1892, 1901). The jury heard that Mailhes met appellant at the Washington Correctional Institution, Louisiana and that four men escaped from that prison. The men robbed an elderly man in Angie, Louisiana, taking his red Ford LTD. Mailhes believed a fourth escapee, Guidry, whom they later left in Gulfport, Mississippi when he got in a barroom brawl, stole a pistol. The witness and Guidry split over three hundred dollars taken from the old man (R-1890-96).

Defendant Davis drove most of the time until they arrived in Pensacola. At that point the remaining three escapees drove around looking for places to rob. Appellant objected to expected testimony concerning plans to rob a laundromat and a motel and moved for a mistrial. This was denied (R-1900-01).

Mailhes then testified he slept in the backseat until he was awakened when the others picked up a hitchhiker. They offered him a beer. At one point Kritzman leaned over to Davis who was the driver and said something. Mailhes assumed they were planning to rob the hitchhiker. A short time later Davis said he had to go to the bathroom and pulled off the road. Davis, Kritzman, and the hitchhiker got out of the car (R-1903-1906).

Mailhes heard appellant tell the hitchhiker to get on the ground and saw Davis push him. Kritzman demanded money. When the victim said he had none, Mailhes heard four shots. He threw a lug wrench to Davis who struck the shot man with it (R-1907-10). Because another car was coming, Davis and Kritzman got back in the car. Appellant stated he shot the man four times in the head. Mailhes then identified various items the other two took from the victim (R-1911-13).

- 6 -

On cross-examination by Davis, Mailhes indicated Kritzman gave him the money from the robbery of the old man (R-1984). Appellant then established that Mailhes was told by law enforcement if he were not the triggerman, he would not get the electric chair. The State also promised him it would not present any aggravating evidence against him, would not oppose any mitigation, and would forcibly recommend he receive a life sentence (R-1995-1996).

Pathologist Charles McConnell was called to testify that Mark McKeen died as a result of a homicide. The man had four bullet wounds to the head and two blunt force injuries to the scalp and left side of his head. Death was from one of the three bullet wounds and a skull fracture (R-2034-36).

FBI agent Frederick McFaul testified he became involved in the investigation because the death occurred on the Naval Live Oak Reservation, a part of the National Seashore. Defendant Davis told him he knew "nothing about no murder." (R-2063-65, 2077).

Mr. McKeen's girlfriend, Carolyn Walker, identified a photograph of the victim. The night in question he was planning on hitchhiking to her house around 8:00 p.m. She never saw him that night (R-2081-84).

The State called a series of witnesses to establish chain of custody for various exhibits: Donna Ronco [nurse who received a bullet from victim's head](R-2059-60), Dennis Nordstrom [Gulf Breeze Police officer who recovered a beer can from the area near the victim, delivered blood samples from Mailhes and Davis to FDLE and delivered fingerprints from the three defendants to

- 7 -

FDLE](R-2085-90), Katie Burton [a nurse who drew the blood samples](R-2091-2), and Jan Johnson [FDLE crime scene analyst who photographed the crime scene, recovered latent fingerprints and bloodstains from the automobile, a beer can with blood, hair, and fingerprints on it, bullets from the autopsy, a tire tool with bloodstains, a .22 caliber pistol and live rounds, and clothing from the defendants](R-2112-31).

Florida Department of Law Enforcement crime lab analysts then described the results of their tests: Donald Champagne [firearms examiner verified the .22 fired the bullets into the victim's head] (R-2155-68), Linda Hensley [hair and fiber expert matched the victim's head hair with hair on the beer can and lug wrench] (R-2172-75), Lonnie Ginsberg [serologist who determined human blood was on Kritzman's clothing but not on the others' clothing], (R-2177-84) and Christopher Reiter [fingerprint examiner determined Davis' prints were on beer can found near the victim] (R-2221-24).

The State rested (R-2233). Appellant moved for a judgment of acquittal which was denied (R-2234).

Defendant Davis then took the stand in his own defense. Prior to this appellant moved to sever and moved for a mistrial. Both motions were denied (R-2241).

Davis testified he had known Kritzman at two separate prisons over the course of sixteen months (R-2246). After the prison break, the four men involved, himself, Mailhes, Kritzman, and Guidry looked for cars and guns to steal. He described the robbery of the elderly man, how they looked for drugs in Biloxi, Mississippi to get high (R-2246-2261), and then tried to find

- 8 -

some marijuana at Pensacola Beach (R-2271). Kritzman and Mailhes wanted to rob someone, so they waited by a night deposit box. Later the two unsuccessfully staked out a laundromat and a motel (R-2273-2275). This was far more detailed that the testimony elicited by the State from Mailhes on the events from the prison break to the time they picked up a hitchhiker (R-1890-1903).

Kritzman shot the victim, according to Davis (R-2278-2290), and Mailhes hit him with the tire tool he assumed (R-2279-80).

After their arrest Davis related a conversation that appellant "should get his people in Louisiana to go to Griffin's [Mailhes'] people and jump on them..." that he "will get him down the road at Lake Butler." (R-2289)

On cross-examination by the State, the following transpired:

- Q. And then later you gave a false story, "I don't know nothing about no murder."
- A. Exactly, because I was under the impression that Tim and all of them and Don had all remained silent and everything else as I.... (R-2310-11).

Appellant objected and moved for a mistrial (R-2311), on the grounds that there was a comment on his right to remain silent (R-2313). He renewed his motion for severance but both motions were denied (R-2315).

In attempting to impeach Davis about a conversation between himself and Kritzman "getting" Mailhes, the State asked

> Isn't it true you said, "When we go to trial, we can just say he hit him with the tire tool when he was still alive."

A. I don't recall that. (R-2324) Appellant objected, saying that the question was another comment

- 9 -

on his failure to testify. A motion for mistrial was denied (R-2324) as was a severance request (R-2327).

At the conclusion of the State's cross-examination, the judge took a belated prophylactic measure and offered to permit appellant to depose Davis. He would not allow a severance (R-2365). Appellant responded that the deposition would be of no use at that point (R-2366).

When appellant rested without putting on any evidence, the judge inquired when Kritzman's attorney had learned that Davis would testify (R-2379). The judge was satisfied that he did not become aware of this until the Monday of jury selection (R-2387-88). Counsel proffered this changed circumstance mattered because now he had to cross-examine Davis (R-2389). He could not say that it would have changed his decision not to present evidence (R-2391). Due to surprise and antagonistic defenses including references to Kritzman's silence and testimony of collateral acts, appellant moved for a severance (R-2393), which was denied (R-2414).

After closing arguments in which the State and Davis called appellant a cold blooded murderer (R-2471) and an executioner (R-2511-2, 2519), the jury convicted both Kritzman and Davis as charged (R-2578).

The jury was then instructed to return Monday, March 3, 1986, for the penalty phase (R-2582).

The State introduced the perpetuated testimony of former St. Tammany Parish, Louisiana prosecutor Thomas Mull (R-2629). In 1984 Mr. Mull prosecuted Donald Kritzman, whom he identified, for armed robbery of a convenience store in Slidell, Louisiana.

- 10 -

The defendant entered a plea to the armed robbery with a pistol in October of 1984 and was sentenced to nine years at hard labor with the Louisiana Department of Corrections (R-244-246). Mr. Mull also identified various records (R-246, 249-255) which reflected the judgment and sentence for that crime, the prison records, and the various supporting documents from the Louisiana system. Those records were introduced by the state after Mr. Mull's deposition was read to the jury (R-2629).

Kritzman presented testimony from psychiatrist Lewis Perillo, MD about the effects of alcohol on a person. If a person approximately 5'3 1/2" tall and weighing 130 pounds drank nine beers from 10:30 a.m. to 6:00 p.m., by 8:30 p.m. he would have a blood alcohol level of approximately .165 percent. According to the doctor legal intoxication was .1 percent (R-2637-38). At the .15 level a person would have swings of emotion, some memory problems, and would lack coordination. Should the person have a relatively low IQ around 75, Dr. Perillo opined the person's judgment and reason would be affected to a greater degree than that of a normal person (R-2639-40). If the same person consumed twelve beers during the same time, his blood alcohol would rise to .265 percent (R-2640).

On cross-examination Dr. Perillo admitted he had no idea how much Kritzman had had to drink on September 8, 1985 (R-2642).

Clinical psychologist Dan Overlade was the next witness. Dr. Overlade administered various psychological tests. From his results he concluded, Kritzman had an IQ of 72 and a mental age of eleven years, six months which placed him in the lowest four percent of the population. That made him borderline mentally

- 11 -

retarded (R-2642-45).

Diane Sevin, appellant's half sister, testified about his background. Her parents had fourteen children of which appellant was the thirteenth. They split up before Donald was born. Their mother, Marcella Kritzman, now deceased, never married appellant's father. To her knowledge Donald's father never lived with his mother nor provided a father role for the boy (R-2648-51).

Donald's mother was an alcoholic and throughout his childhood suffered from cancer. Because of this, he grew up on his own. There was no male figure in the household. In 1981 his mother died from a heart attack (R-2652-54).

She recalled when Donald was twelve he sold drugs out of the house for several years. He split the money with his mother (R-2655-57).

Finally appellant called Dr. Richard Goldberg, a clinical psychologist, who had administered several tests on Kritzman and reviewed prior prison records. Kritzman had a history of institutionalization in juvenile programs since the age of twelve. He presented a classic picture of a depressed sociopathic personality disorder with very low impulse control (R-2674-78). Because his ability to control impulses was seriously impaired, the addition of alcohol would further decrease his meager abilities (R-2678-79). If a borderline retarded person such as Kritzman had ingested alcohol to the extent his facilities were impaired on September 8, his ability to appreciate the criminality of his behavior would also be substantially impaired (R-2680).

On cross-examination Dr. Goldberg dismissed some prison tests

- 12 -

as aberrant and based on cursory testing methods. A Dr. Pettigrew had only concluded Kritzman was impulsive and violent. There was also one test result placing appellant in the normal range intellectually, but that was contradicted by numerous sub level results (R-2682-85).

In rebuttal the State called law enforcement officers Brown, Saunders, Cotton, and McFaul to establish appellant did not appear intoxicated when they encountered him (R-2716-2723).

Kent Mailhes took the stand to introduce the plea agreement and minimize his participation in the murder. He recognized the judge had the ultimate sentencing decision and knew Judge Lowery had imposed the death sentence on others (R-2703-12). During his closing, his counsel reiterated this theme, urging the jury not to send a message to other criminals - why help out when the state will still kill you? (R-2766-2775).

The State, as promised, sought life for Mailhes. "I am asking you to give him the mercy that Davis and Kritzman denied on behalf of Mark McKeen." IR-2727).

Appellant argued five factors in mitigation: low IQ, alcohol impairment, impulsive behavior, deprived family background, and generally a hard short life (R-2753-61).

After instruction from Judge Lowery (R-2776-2785), the jurors by an 8-4 vote recommended the death penalty (R-96). Both Mailhes and Davis received life recommendations (R-2786-7).

Judge Lowery did not order a pre-sentence investigation but based his findings on the prior proceedings (R-122). He imposed a death sentence on appellant, ruling there were three aggravating factors (capital felony committed by a person under sentence of

- 13 -

imprisonment, prior conviction of a felony involving the use or threat of violence to a person, and capital felony committed during an armed robbery), and two statutory mitigating factors, diminished capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct and age of the defendant, and a partially mitigating non-statutory factor, improvished background. These mitigating factors were not sufficient to outweigh the aggravating curcumstances (R-122-131). Appellant received a twelve year guidelines sentence on the armed robbery (R-135).

On July 11, 1986, appellant filed a timely notice of appeal. The public defender, Second Judicial Circuit, was designated to handle the appeal November 12, 1986.

III SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In issue one appellant argues that he was denied a fair trial when the co-defendant who had previously entered a guilty plea to murder and who was the State's chief witness against him in the murder prosecution was allowed to participate in the voir dire and selection of appellant's jury. He contends that the trial judge should have severed appellant's case from that of the co-defendant and that the denial of such severance was an abuse of discretion.

In issue two appellant contends that the admission of irrelevant collateral acts improperly placed appellant's character in evidence and denied him a fair trial.

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