# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

APR 24 1987

DONALD ROBERT KRITZMAN,

APPELLANT,

-VS-

By Styling Deputy of the

CASE NO. 69,058

STATE OF FLORIDA

APPELLEE.

### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JOHN M. KOENIG, JR. ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

(I Day late)

## TOPICAL

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to sever Appellant's trial from that of co-defendant Mailhes where Mailhes plead guilty to the charges and agreed to testify as a State witness against Appellant, thereby having only a determination of an advisory sentence by a qualified jury. There has been no demonstration of prejudice to Appellant by allowing Mailhes to participate in the selection of a jury that would decide the guilt or innocence of Appellant but would only consider a penalty recommendation for Mailhes.

The evidence of collateral acts committed prior to the instant was properly admitted in order to establish the entire context out of which the criminal episode occurred and was relevant to prove Appellant's need for money as a motive for committing the charged offenses.

As Appellant was not prejudiced in any way by co-defendant Davis' testimony or theory of defense, the trial court properly denied his motion for severance therefrom.

Appellant has failed to establish that the United States Government accepted exclusive jurisdiction over the Naval Live Oaks Reservation and, therefore, the trial court properly denied Appellant's motion for lack of jurisdiction.

#### ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE I

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO SEVER KENT MAILHES CASE FROM APPELLANT.

As acknowledged by Appellant, the circumstances in the instant case come to this Court cloaked in a veil of first impression. One of the co-defendants, Kent Mailhes, entered a guilty plea to first degree murder and robbery with a firearm and agreed to testify as a state witness against Appellant in return for the State's agreement not to seek the death penalty for Mailhes (R 898). The unique aspect of this case is that the plea was accepted by the court with Mailhes' understanding that his case would be submitted to the same jury as co-defendant Davis' and Appellant's for the sole purpose of a recommendation of punishment (R 989). As a result, Mailhes was allowed to participate in the selection of a jury that would decide the guilt or innocence of Davis and Appellant, (and penalty recommendation if guilty) but would only consider a penalty recommendation of Mailhes. Because the trial court refused to sever the two cases (R 773), Appellant contends that he was deprived of his right to due process of law and was denied a fair trial as guaranteed by the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution. The State disagrees in that Appellant has failed to demonstrate, in any way whatsoever, how he was

prejudiced by Mailhes' participation in the selection of the jury, or how any Florida statute, rule of procedure or constitutional provision has been violated.

In 1976, the United States Supreme Court in **Proffitt**v. Florida, 428 U.S. 242, 49 L.Ed.2d 913, 96 S.Ct. 2960 (1976),
approved Florida's adoption of a new capital sentencing procedure:

Under the new statute, if a defendant is found guilty of a capital offense, a separate evidentiary hearing is held before the trial judge and jury to determine his sentence. Evidence may be presented on any matter the judge deems relevant to sentencing and must include matters relating to certain legislatively specified aggravating and mitigating circumstances. Both the prosecution and the defense may present argument on whether the death penalty shall be imposed.

At the conclusion of the hearing the jury is directed to consider "[w]hether sufficient mitigating circumstances exist . . . which outweigh the aggravating circumstances found to exist; and . . . [b]ased on these considerations, whether the defendant should be sentenced to life [imprisonment] or death." §§921.141(2)(b).

428 U.S. at 248.

The State submits that co-defendant Mailhes, having plead guilty to first degree murder, was entitled to a separate sentencing proceeding for a determination of punishment.

In fact, such action is mandated by Section 921.141, Fla.Stat.:

(1) SEPARATE PROCEEDINGS ON ISSUE OF PENALTY.—
Upon conviction or adjudication of guilt of a defendant of a capital felony, the court shall conduct a separate sentencing proceeding to determine whether the defendant should be sentenced to death or life imprisonment as authorized by s. 775.082. The proceeding shall be conducted by the trial judge before the trial jury as soon as practicable. If, through impossibility or inability, the trial jury is unable to reconvene for a hearing on the issue of penalty, having determined

the guilt of the accused, the trial judge may summon a special juror or jurors as provided in chapter 913 to determine the issue of the imposition of the penalty. If the trial jury has been waived, or if the defendant pleaded guilty, the sentencing proceeding shall be conducted before a jury impaneled for that purpose, unless waived by the defendant.

Here, the sentencing proceeding was not waived by co-defendant Mailhes and, therefore, the trial court properly allowed him to participate in the selection of a jury which was to render an advisory sentence to the court.

Although Appellant makes the assertion that he was denied a fair trial due to Mailhes' participation in voir dire, he is unable to demonstrate how he was prejudiced by such action. He claims that the State was allowed to bolster the credibility of the witness. However, Appellant, as well as co-defendant Davis, was given every opportunity to impeach the witness on cross-examination in front of the same jury. He claims that the State was allowed to comment "indirectly" on Appellant's right to remain silent. That's ridiculous. Appellant himself chose to exercise his right to remain silent and not to take the stand and give testimony against himself just as Mailhes chose to give up that right. Merely because each potential juror was informed that Mailhes had plead guilty and would be testifying against Appellant hardly amounts, even indirectly, to a comment on Appellant's right to remain silent. Appellant also claims that Mailhes, through participation in voir dire, was able to emphasize the State's opinion that Appellant was the most culpable. This claim is totally without

support. A cursory review of the voir dire in this case reveals that at no time did the State or counsel for Mailhes make such a suggestion to any juror. It was not until a jury was impaneled that such information was revealed. Finally, Appellant claims that the State was allowed a de facto increase in peremptory challenges by having Mailhes excuse those jurors who do not favor plea bargaining. This contention is without merit as there is no demonstration that such action prejudiced or hindered Appellant in his voir dire of the jurors. Moreover, the record is devoid of any indication that the State also challenged any juror who does not favor plea bargaining. Such a concern was more likely that of Mailhes, and rightfully The State would further submit that Mailhes' participation in voir dire was logically more beneficial to Appellant as he, like Appellant, favored a juror who was more likely to recommend life as opposed to death and, therefore, his use of challenges in no way acted to increase those of the State. The State's agreement with Mailhes was merely that it would not seek the death penalty (R 898).

Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.152(b)(1) directs the trial court to order severance whenever necessary "to promote a fair determination of the guilt or innocence of one or more defendants. . . ." Here, Mailhes' guilt was already determined by his plea and the court's acceptance thereof, leaving only a determination of punishment. The circumstances <u>sub judice</u> are no different than if Mailhes had plead not guilty, proceeded

to jury trial with Appellant, and then decided to take the stand and confess to all the charges, but inculpating Appellant as the triggerman. Mailhes would still be entitled to a separate sentencing proceeding for an advisory recommendation by the same jury.

As there was no prejudice demonstrated from the record and no violation of any Florida statute, rule of procedure or constitutional provision, the trial judge properly exercised his discretion in denying Appellant's motion for severance and allowing Mailhes to participate in the selection of a jury solely for the purpose of a sentence recommendation.

#### ISSUE II

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT REVERSIBLY ERR IN ADMITTING RELEVANT COLLATERAL CRIME EVIDENCE TO ESTABLISH THE ENTIRE CONTEXT OF THE CRIMINAL EPISODE.

#### ARGUMENT

Appellant asserts as error the trial court's admission of collateral crime evidence of his escape from a Louisiana prison, the robbery of Mr. Jones of a gun and automobile, and subsequent plans to rob a motel and laundromat. He contends that such admission violated the rule as determined by the Florida Supreme Court in Williams v. State, 110 So.2d 654 (Fla.1959), in that the evidence was not relevant to any fact in issue and merely served to show his bad character or propensity to commit crime. The State contends, as does the trial court, that the disputed evidence was properly admitted to show the entire context out of which the criminal episode occurred.

In Smith v. State, 365 So.2d 704,707 (Fla.1978), cert.

den., 444 U.S. 885, 100 S.Ct. 177, 62 L.Ed.2d 115 (1979),

this Court stated that "[a]mong the other purposes for which
a collateral crime may be admitted under Williams is establishment
of the entire context out of which the criminal conduct arose."

The Smith opinion also reiterated that relevancy is the crucial
factor in determining admissibility of evidence. Briefly,
the facts in Smith were as follows. The defendant and two

friends picked up a man for purposes of robbing him, which they did. They also murdered the man. After the murder, a disagreement broke out between the three men over how to divide the proceeds of the robbery. This resulted in the death of one of the men. The defendant's car was used throughout the criminal episode and the same ice pick used in both murders. This Court held that evidence of the second murder was properly admitted to illustrate the criminal context of the first murder and was relevant to place the defendant at the scene of the first murder.

Another case on point is Hall v. State, 403 So.2d 1321 (Fla.1981), wherein this Court held that collateral crime evidence with respect to another murder committed on the same evening by the defendant was admissible to prove identity because the weapon used in that murder was found underneath the body of the victim in the case at trial; and the collateral crime showed the general context in which the criminal action occurred. Similarly, in Heiney v. State, 447 So.2d 210 (Fla.1984), cert.den., \_\_\_ U.S. \_\_\_, 83 L.Ed.2d 237 (1984), this Court held that evidence of a prior shooting committed by the defendant in another state was admissible because it was relevant to show the defendant's desire to avoid apprehension which motivated him to commit robbery and murder in Florida so that he could obtain money and a car in order to continue his flight from justice.

Most recently, a case dealing with this issue was handed down by the First District. Austin v. State, 12 F.L.W. 106 (Fla.1st DCA Dec. 18, 1986). In Austin, the defendant was convicted of attempted first degree murder, armed robbery, and possession of a firearm during the commission of a felony. During the State's case, the prosecutor was allowed to introduce evidence that the defendant had fired a shot at another person (Lovelace) not far from the scene of the charged offenses. The First District held that the collateral crime evidence was "so inextricably intertwined with the crimes charged that an intelligent account of this criminal episode could not have been given by Lovelace without reference to the gas station shooting." 12 F.L.W. at 107. In so holding, the Court found the collateral evidence was relevant to cast light on the character of the crimes for which the defendant was prosecuted and to show his need for money as a motive for committing the crimes. The same reasoning is applicable sub judice.

Here, evidence that Appellant and the co-defendants had just escaped from a Louisiana prison, robbed an elderly man of a gun, money and an automobile, and had discussed plans to rob a motel and landromat was clearly admissible as such acts were substantially close in time with the murder and robbery of Mark McKeen so as to form a part of the charged offenses and to illustrate the character thereof. Appellant was stopped while driving the automobile which was stolen from Louisiana which gave rise to the initial stop and subsequent

arrest (R 1850-1852). Thereafter, a search of the vehicle resulted in the discovery of the stolen gun (R 1860-1861). Obviously, the foregoing testimony was necessary and relevant to give an intelligent account of the criminal episode. Austin, It established the entire context out of which the criminal conduct arose. Heiney, supra; Hall, supra; Smith, supra; Ruffin v. State, 397 So.2d 277 (Fla.1981). See also Jackson v. State, 403 So. 2d 1063 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981), cert.den., 412 So.2d 466 (Fla.1982) (evidence of earlier robbery within hours of second robbery on same day was admissible in prosecution for second robbery and murder of grocery store clerk during second robbery); Holland v. State, 432 So.2d 60 (Fla.1st DCA 1983) (trial court, in prosecution for armed robbery, did not err in admitting testimony as to defendant's participation in prior bank robbery in same geographical location); Thomas v. State, 12 So.2d 148 (Fla.1943) (in first degree murder prosecution, admission of evidence regarding an encounter between defendant and another was not error where it was about matter closely enough connected with the main transaction to show mental attitude of defendant at time of the crime, and it could be considered a part of the "res gestae").

Moreover, as anticipated by Appellant, the State submits that evidence of the collateral acts was relevant to show Appellant's need for money as a motive for committing the charged offenses. He had just escaped from prison and therefore needed money for basic necessities. Robbery and murder, unfortunately, were his only avenues.

Should this Court disagree with the foregoing argument, the State contends that the admission into evidence of the collateral acts was clearly harmless given the eyewitness testimony of co-defendant Mailhes which established Appellant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.

Consequently, this Court should affirm the trial court's decision to allow introduction of the collateral crime evidence.

#### ISSUE III

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO SEVER HIS CASE FROM THE CASE OF CO-DEFENDANT DAVIS.

#### **ARGUMENT**

Appellant next contends that the trial court reversibly erred in denying his motion for severance from co-defendant Davis where Davis' defense was antagonistic, implicated Appellant, and included a comment on Appellant's right to remain silent. Such a contention is without merit under the circumstances of this case.

Although counsel for Appellant has thoroughly cited the proper authority regarding severance of co-defendants, the undersigned finds it necessary to bring to this Court's attention certain additional rules which have been established to determine whether severance should be granted.

This Honorable Court in McCray v. State, 416 So.2d 804 (Fla.1982), provided a full discussion of the severance issue finding consistency between Florida's rule and the American Bar Association standards relating to joinder and severance in criminal trials. The Court stated:

Rule 3.152(b)(1) directs the trial court to order severance whenever necessary "to promote a fair determination of the guilt or innocence of one or more defendants...." As we stated in **Menendez v. State**, 368 So.2d 1278 (Fla.1979), and in **Crum v. State**, 398 So.2d 810 (Fla. 1981), this rule is consistent with the American Bar Association standards relating to joinder and severance

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